STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Chesterfield County

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

DAMEION J. RIVERS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002353

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

 ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the PCR judge err in denying Petitioner relief, where plea counsel failed to perform an adequate pre-trial investigation, where counsel failed to interview two witnesses who provided statements to law enforcement, where information obtained through the interviews would have altered the advice given by counsel to plead guilty, and where counsel failed to obtain one of the witness statements and thereby provided ineffective assistance of counsel?

II. Did the PCR judge err in failing to order a new trial for Petitioner where the testimony of Billy Lee Lisenby, supporting a claim of self-defense, satisfied the threshold requirements of after-discovered evidence in light of the fact that Lisenby never provided a formal statement to law enforcement?

III. Did the PCR judge err in denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner's plea was entered involuntarily, unknowingly, and unintelligently, where counsel advised him that he would only be required to serve 65% of his sentence, where the actual requirement was 85%, a difference of approximately four years on Petitioner's nineteen year sentence?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted for murder in November 2007 and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime in December 2007 by a Chesterfield County grand jury App. 300 – 303.

He proceeded to trial on August 30, 2010 before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. App.1. Kernard E. Redmond and Adam Foard appeared on behalf of the State, and Paul Cannarella represented Petitioner. Following a pre-trial hearing and the denial of both a suppression motion and a motion for a continuance, Petitioner pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter the following day. App. 78; App. 80 l. 21 – App. 81 l. 3. Judge Burch accepted the plea. App. 86 ll. 13 – 16.

Petitioner was sentenced to nineteen years' incarceration on the voluntary manslaughter charge and five years concurrent on the weapons charge. App. 124 ll. 17 – 19.

Petitioner did not pursue a direct appeal. He filed an application for post-conviction relief on or about June 9, 2011. App. 127. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea, including a claim that counsel “failed to conduct an adequate pre-trial investigation to prepare for a trial defense.” App. 129. A handwritten Motion for Abeyance and Request for Transcript and Memorandum in Support for Motion for Abeyance and Request for Transcript accompanied the application. App. 133 – App. 139. An Amendment to the PCR application was filed on or about January 11, 2013 through counsel. App. 140 – 141. A Second Amendment to the PCR application was filed on or about May 29, 2013. App. 142 – 143. A Second Amended PCR Application was filed on December 23, 2015. App. 144 – 145. On January 4, 2016, a Supplement to Second Amended PCR Application was filed. App. 146 – 147.

The State made its Return on or about August 19, 2011. App. 148 – 154. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson on January 11, 2016. App. 155. Andrew F. McLeod represented Petitioner, and Jessica E. Kinard appeared on behalf of the State. Petitioner, counsel, and two fact witnesses testified at the hearing.

Judge Henderson issued an Order of Dismissal on or about July 8, 2016. App. 260 – 270. He found, in very broad terms, that Petitioner failed to prove that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 267 – 268.

Counsel for Petitioner filed a Motion under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on September 9, 2016. The written motion referenced an Exhibit A which was attached to the Motion. App. 272 – 274.

A hearing on the Motion was held on July 24, 2017 before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson. App. 276. The same counsel was present. The parties and the PCR court discussed the after-discovered evidence standard. Judge Henderson issued a Form 4 Order denying the Motion. App. 286. An Order Denying Motion Pursuant to 59(e) was filed on October 19, 2017. App. 288. An Amended Order Denying Motion Pursuant to 59(e) was filed on November 2, 2017. App. 294.

This Petition follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR judge erred in denying Petitioner relief, where plea counsel failed to perform an adequate pre-trial investigation, where counsel failed to interview two witnesses who provided statements to law enforcement, where information obtained through the interviews would have altered the advice given by counsel to plead guilty, and where counsel failed to obtain one of the witness statements and thereby provided ineffective assistance of counsel.

Relevant facts

At Petitioner's guilty plea, the State indicated that Petitioner was arrested following an incident on August 27, 2007 in or near Pageland, South Carolina. App. 87 l. 16 – App. 89 l. 10. Law enforcement arrived following reports of a shooting at a place called Pop's Game Room. Id. The decedent, Tavish Dunlap, suffered a gunshot wound to his abdomen. He was airlifted to a medical center in North Carolina but passed away. Id. According to the State, witnesses at the scene reported seeing Petitioner fire at the decedent. Petitioner was then arrested. Id.

There were multiple witnesses at Pop's in August 2007. Counsel for Petitioner, however, did not interview many of them. One of those witnesses, Kory Little, provided a statement to law enforcement. Little advised law enforcement that he saw Petitioner step out of a car with a gun. App. 202 ll. 4 – 18. At the evidentiary hearing in Petitioner's matter, however, Little explained:

That was a coerced statement because the Pageland Police Department forced me to do it. They made my write what they wanted me to write. They wouldn't let me go to the restroom. They wouldn't let me ... get [] food ... and they held me in there forever until I wrote ... what they wanted me to write. But everything that I wrote in that statement was not true. It was false.

App. 202 l. 19 – App. 203 l. 2.

Little testified that law enforcement forced him to suggest that Petitioner was the one who shot the decedent. App. 203 ll. 20 – 24. He recanted his statement and clarified that he was unaware that Petitioner was at Pop's. App. 203 l. 25 – App. 204 l. 9. Petitioner learned of this fact after he entered his guilty plea. App. 179 l. 14 – App. 180 l. 2.

Little stated that Petitioner's trial-turned-plea counsel never interviewed him. App. 204 l. 10 – App. 205 l. 13. Had anyone contacted him about his statement, Little would have explained fully what the police forced him to do, including the coercion and threats issued by the law enforcement officers. Id.

A second witness, Billy Lee Lisenby Jr., was at Pop's on the night of August 27, 2007. App. 209 ll. 5 – 11. He offered evidence that the decedent was armed at the time of the shooting. App. 209 l. 12 – App. 211 l. 21. Lisenby spoke with Larry Brown, an officer with the Pageland Police Department in January 2008. App. 212 l. 2 – App. 213 l. 12. Because Lisenby was arrested and incarcerated, he never heard back from Brown. Id. As a result, Lisenby never provided a statement and was never contacted. App. 213 ll. 13 – 21.

Lisenby and Petitioner were housed together at Lee Correctional. App. 214 l. 9 – App. 215 l. 21. Lisenby realized that Petitioner was incarcerated for allegedly shooting the decedent, and Petitioner asked if Lisenby would testify on his behalf. Id. Lisenby reiterated that the decedent was armed the night of the shooting. App. 215 l. 16 – 21; App. 218 ll. 2 – 8.

Petitioner hired counsel after he was arrested, and the two met approximately three times. App. 165 ll. 7 – 14. Counsel admitted that he did not speak with Little. App. 224 ll. 9 – 10. He attempted to justify this decision by assuming that Little would have recited his exact testimony from the statement:

Well, I probably wouldn't get anything but a regurgitation of what he already had given in a statement. I mean, I don't necessarily try to interview people who I know are going to be against me, are going to testify against me in court for the State.

App. 224 ll. 11 – 17.

Counsel admitted that if he had known that Little was willing to recant, he would have advised Petitioner differently, a determination he could have made only after interviewing Little.

App. 225 ll. 5 – 15.

Discussion

The PCR court's findings of fact are entitled to deference and will be upheld when there is any evidence of probative value to support them. Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013). Reversal is warranted where no evidence of probative value supports the PCR court's decision. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999). Questions of law, are reviewed *de novo*, and this Court will reverse when the PCR court's decision is controlled by an error of law. Jordan, supra.

“In order to establish a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, the [petitioner] must show that: (1) counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the [petitioner's] case.” Speaks v. State, 377 S.C. 396, 399, 660 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2008) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). The Strickland test requires a petitioner to make a showing on both prongs in order to prove ineffective assistance of counsel. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

Prior to trial, counsel informed Petitioner that the State anticipated using Little to show that Petitioner initiated the situation. App. 174 ll. 17 – 23. Had Petitioner known that law enforcement coerced Little's statement, he would have pleaded not guilty and gone to trial. App.

180 ll. 3 – 23. Had counsel interviewed Little, Petitioner would have been able to “dispute the State’s theory that [he] brought on [the] initial difficulty by stepping out [of] the car with a gun because the only testimony that they plan[ned] to use [to show he] brought [the] initial difficulty ... was Kory Little’s statement.” Id. However, this was foreclosed as a possibility due to counsel’s failure to interview Little. Id.

Another statement was provided by a witness named Kenneth Louallen.¹ App. 175 ll. 4 – 12. Petitioner discovered this witness by reading the incident report. Id. Counsel never spoke with Louallen. Id. Additionally, the State did not provide Louallen’s statement to counsel. App. 175 l. 13 – App. 176 l. 4. Counsel never moved for a Brady² violation or insisted on obtaining a copy of the statement. Id.

Petitioner did not think that counsel ever spoke with Louallen. App. 178 ll. 1 – 17. When asked why he expressed his satisfaction with counsel at his guilty plea, Petitioner explained that he was under the impression that counsel had contacted and/or interviewed everyone. App. 193 ll. 2 – 18. Petitioner was informed that counsel had done that: “He’s suppose[d] to ... contact everybody who ... [would] have been an eyewitness in the case.” Id.

Counsel confirmed that his advice to Petitioner would have been different had he known about Little’s actual testimony. App. 234 ll. 3 – 23. The testimony which would have affected his advice was not ascertained by counsel, even though the names of these witnesses were available to counsel. He provided ineffective assistance in this regard, and the resulting prejudice manifested itself in Petitioner’s guilty plea, entered into without full knowledge of the facts, witness testimony, and sentence specifics.

¹ A scrivener’s error in the pre-trial transcript mistakenly referred to this witness as Kenneth Burrell. App. 176 ll. 5 – 21.

² Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

II. The PCR judge erred in failing to order a new trial for Petitioner where the testimony of Billy Lee Lisenby, supporting a claim of self-defense, satisfied the threshold requirements of after-discovered evidence in light of the fact that Lisenby never provided a formal statement to law enforcement.

Petitioner discovered that Lisenby witnessed the shooting while the duo were in SCDC custody. App. 182 l. 16 – 183 l. 20. Petitioner learned that Lisenby observed the decedent pull out a gun and walk towards Petitioner while yelling aggressively. Id. Petitioner indicated that had he or his attorney known about Lisenby, a self-defense claim could have been established. Id.

Counsel did not want to risk Petitioner receiving a life sentence “unless [he] had somebody put the gun in Tavish Dunlap’s hand,” a task achieved through the testimony of Lisenby. App. 223 ll. 16 – 23. Counsel testified that “I’d [have] gone to trial” if he had a compelling reason to believe that the decedent had a weapon. App. 225 l. 16 – App. 226 l. 9. Counsel confirmed that his advice to Petitioner would have been different had he known about Lisenby’s testimony. App. 234 ll. 3 – 23.

The South Carolina Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (PCR Act) allows an applicant to file an application for relief “[i]f the applicant contends that there is evidence of material facts not previously presented and heard that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence.” S.C.Code Ann. § 17-27-45(C) (2014) (allowing applications to be filed within one year of the date of actual discovery of the facts or from the date when the facts “could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence”).

In Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 765 S.E.2d 123, (2014), this Court concluded that the traditional five-factor newly discovered test is not the proper test for analyzing whether a PCR

applicant is entitled to relief following a guilty plea. This Court established the following standard:

[W]hen a PCR applicant seeks relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence following a guilty plea, relief is appropriate only where the applicant presents evidence showing that (1) the newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea; and (2) the newly discovered evidence is of such a weight and quality that, under the facts and circumstances of that particular case, the “interest of justice” requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated. In other words, a PCR applicant may successfully disavow his or her guilty plea only where the interests of justice outweigh the waiver and solemn admission of guilt encompassed in a plea of guilty and the compelling interests in maintaining the finality of guilty-plea convictions.

Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 470, 765 S.E.2d 123, 130 (2014)

In State v. South, 310 S.C. 504, 508, 427 S.E.2d 666, 669 (1993), this Court held the 1989 discovery that the defendant had a brain tumor in 1983, at the time of his trial, was not after-discovered evidence that probably would change the result of a new trial. The after-discovered evidence was a tumor located in the pineal gland of the brain. Id., at 506, 427 S.E.2d at 668. South’s expert testified he was legally insane at the time of the crime because he was unable to know right from wrong and to control his actions. The expert testified that intoxication may render a person unable to know the difference between right and wrong. This Court held the expert’s conclusions were “not in accord with South Carolina’s standard” regarding insanity. Id., at 508, 427 S.E.2d at 669.

Additionally, South presented another expert who opined the brain tumor “may” have had additional effects on South, who suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder due to his abusive childhood and diminished mental capacity as a result of substance abuse. In the expert’s opinion, South’s mental condition and substance abuse likely had an adverse effect on his ability to think rationally and act in conformity with the law. This Court noted that South Carolina had rejected the

“irresistible impulse” test as the definition of insanity. Id. Finally, South’s trial counsel testified that insanity may have been a viable defense, but he had never discussed it with South because South claimed he was innocent. Trial counsel further testified that he would have used the presence of the tumor as a mitigating circumstance during South’s capital trial. Id., at 508-509, 427 S.E.2d at 669. Thus, this Court concluded that South failed to show that he was legally insane as a result of the tumor and that evidence of the tumor’s presence probably would change the result of a new trial. Id., at 509, 427 S.E.2d at 669.

In State v. Wells, 249 S.C. 249, 263-264, 153 S.E.2d 904, 911-912 (1967), this Court denied Wells’ motion for new trial where the evidence would not probably change the result if a new trial were had and it was merely cumulative and impeaching. Wells was convicted of conspiracy to commit abortion. Id., at 252, 153 S.E.2d at 905. Wells presented an affidavit from Larry Eitel, an intimate friend of the woman on whom an attempted abortion had been performed. Id., at 262, 153 S.E.2d at 911. According to Eitel, the woman stated she received B-12 shots from Wells, who refunded her money when he learned she wanted an abortion. Further, the woman confided in Eitel that her mother referred her to a doctor for the abortion, not Wells. Id. This Court held Eitel’s testimony would not likely change the result if a new trial were had because Eitel lacked credibility in light of his extensive criminal record. Id., at 263, 153 S.E.2d at 911. Additionally, this Court held the testimony was cumulative and/or impeaching in light of the other evidence presented at trial. The woman testified that she received certain injections from Wells to bring on an abortion. Wells and his staff testified she received B-12 injections. Thus, this Court concluded Eitel’s testimony would be merely impeaching of the woman and cumulative to that of Wells and his staff. Id., at 263-264, 153 S.E.2d at 911-912.

Petitioner is entitled to a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. Lisenby's presence at Pop's was unknown to anyone other than Larry Brown, and the record does not contain any evidence that he divulged this information to anyone. As a result, the first prong is satisfied. Lisenby's presence at the scene and the resulting incidents he witnessed were discovered after the entry of the plea and could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea. Lisenby's name was not recorded in the incident report, and Petitioner did not appear to know that Lisenby was there. Even through due diligence, counsel could not have discovered the names and contact information for every individual for everyone who was at Pop's on August 27, 2007. Lisenby did not come forward until after Petitioner was sentenced and incarcerated.

The PCR court found that because both witnesses were at the scene of the incident, this evidence could have been discovered beforehand with due diligence. The record does not support this contention. There is testimony from Kory Little that some law enforcement officials were either fired or resigned in recent years. There is no evidence that law enforcement provided Lisenby's name to the State or to counsel, and his name does not appear in the incident report.³ App. 257 – 259. Thus, the PCR court's finding that counsel could have discovered the existence of Lisenby as a witness is an erroneous finding of fact.

The evidence presented by Lisenby weighs in favor of a new trial. The interests of justice require that the guilty plea be vacated. The record is replete with evidence that counsel failed to interview witnesses and conduct an adequate pre-trial investigation. Lisenby's testimony would have assisted counsel with the preparation of a self-defense claim. The PCR court found that "Applicant desires vacation of his sentence for the opportunity to be potentially acquitted by a jury." App. 298. Petitioner proved at the evidentiary hearing that had he been aware of Lisenby's

³ The only witness names which appeared in the incident report are Kory Little, Eltoya Blakeney, Kenneth Louallen, and Michael Dunlap.

testimony, he would have gone to trial. As a result, the interests of justice weigh in favor of granting him a new trial, where Lisenby's testimony would have established a self-defense claim. Counsel would have "rolled [the] proverbial dice, if you will, if [the decedent] had a gun." App. 223 ll. 7 – 15.

III. The PCR judge erred in denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner's plea was entered involuntarily, unknowingly, and unintelligently, where counsel advised him that he would only be required to serve 65% of his sentence, where the actual requirement was 85%, a difference of approximately four years on Petitioner's nineteen year sentence.

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