STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002353

RECEIVED

DEC 07 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Dameion J. Rivers,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
S.C. Bar No. 101260
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner recalled Counsel explained Little would testify to show Petitioner brought about the initial difficulty by stepping out of the car with a shotgun in hand. (Appx. 174, ll. 17-23). Petitioner testified he later learned Little only wrote his inculpatory statement to law enforcement after they threatened to charge him as an accessory after the fact. (Appx. 179-80). Petitioner asserted he would not have pled guilty had he known

of Little's claim, and that Little's testimony was the only thing to establish Petitioner brought about the initial difficulty. (Appx. 180, ll. 3-12).¹

Little testified at the evidentiary hearing that his statement to law enforcement, which reported Petitioner stepped out of his car armed with the shotgun, was not true. (Appx. 202, ll. 10-18). Little claimed the statement was coerced because law enforcement would not let him use the restroom, eat, or otherwise leave until he wrote what they wanted him to write. (Appx. 202-03). Little testified that the car pulled up, and that "somebody got out the car with the long gun," but that he could not identify the person because it was dark. (Appx. 203, ll. 8-14). Little recalled Victim and the figure arguing, the figure backing up to try and get back in the car, a shot going off, and Victim falling. (Appx. 203, ll. 14-17). Notably, Little testified he ran inside Pop's and called 911. (Appx. 203, line 17). Little denied ever speaking to Counsel and asserted he would have explained his statement had been coerced. (Appx. 204, ll. 10-15).

Counsel conceded he never spoke with Little. (Appx. 224, ll. 9-10). Counsel explained he believed at the time that he "wouldn't get anything but a regurgitation of what he already had given in a statement." (Appx. 224, ll. 11-14). Counsel indicated broadly that he does not "necessarily try to interview people who I know are going to be against me[.]" (Appx. 224, ll. 15-16). Counsel testified that had he known Little's statement was inaccurate (in combination with Lisenby's testimony), he would have advised Petitioner differently about whether to take the plea or proceed to trial. Counsel opined it would have provided for "a strong self-defense argument and even if the gun went off accidentally, you know, I think you can might still get a charge on it everything you wanted." (Appx. 234, ll. 13-16).

¹ Again, Eltoya Blakeney would have testified to Petitioner's declaration of intent prior to the killing. (Appx. 113, ll. 1-9). Nordrea McBride was also a witness to the shooting and would have refuted allegations of aggression by the Victim. (Appx. 114-15). Petitioner racked the shotgun after blowing Victim away. Id.

The PCR court correctly, if perhaps a bit opaquely, found Counsel's conduct appropriately reasonable under Edwards. (Appx. 266-68). As noted above, this Court has previously cited with approval Georgia caselaw that found review of witness statements may be a reasonable basis to determine interviewing a witness is not necessary. Furthermore, Little's adjustment to his statement would not provide to support Counsel's defense strategies. Though not articulated by Counsel at the evidentiary hearing, Counsel's remarks during the plea proceeding indicate his original intent to portray Little as a dishonest actor, who swiped the shoes, gun, and petty possessions from a dying man and thereafter killed an innocent 15-year-old in North Carolina, impeaching Little's credibility into oblivion while providing an explanation as to why no gun was found on Victim. Additionally, the main difference between Little's statement and Little's testimony pertains to the identity of the shooter—it doesn't matter if Little could or could not identify the shooter when Petitioner admitted to being the shooter and had to argue self-defense or accident.

The PCR court properly found no prejudice either. In ruling on the motion to alter or amend, the PCR court found the record weighed "very heavily against placing credibility on the statements of these men[,]" referring to Little and Lisenby. (Appx. 297-98). The PCR court's finding that Little lacked credibility is entitled to great deference by this Court, especially where, as here, it constitutes in part a form of recantation that is suspect to begin with. Though the standard for relief from a guilty plea is whether an applicant would not have pled guilty but for counsel's alleged error, the validity of an applicant's claim to that end in the context of a "failure to investigate" allegation may be weighed in large part by weighing the actual value of the evidence which purportedly could have been discovered by additional investigation. Put another way, an applicant cannot escape his guilty plea by claiming he would have insisted upon a trial if

only his attorney had investigated and discovered valueless or irrelevant information. Here, the information Counsel could have ostensibly discovered by talking to Little is just that—of no help or value to Petitioner’s defense.

b. Neither Kenneth Louallen nor his statement to law enforcement was provided at the evidentiary hearing, and what little we have to show of its substance in the record indicates that it was inculpatory

Petitioner’s claims with respect to Kenneth Louallen are more simply resolved. In order to prevail upon a claim that counsel did not adequately prepare or investigate a case, an applicant must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses applicant could have requested counsel develop and present had counsel been more prepared. Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 75-76, 659 S.E.2d 140, 145-46 (2008) (citing Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998)). Furthermore, an applicant must also present evidence to show how the discoverable matters or defenses would have resulted in a different outcome. Id. (citing Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 214, 481 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1997)). Mere speculation as to how the alleged lack of preparation prejudiced an applicant is not sufficient to support a grant of relief. Id., 377 S.C. at 75, 659 S.E.2d at 145 (citing Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995)).

Louallen was not presented as a witness at the evidentiary hearing. No purported statement was ever entered into evidence at the evidentiary hearing. The only indicia of a statement and its contents is in the narrative of a Pageland Police Department incident report, which was in Petitioner and Counsel’s possession:

I talked with Kenneth Louallen who witnessed the shooting. He states and his statement is on tape that he observed a guy named Dameion get out the passenger seat of a black [Grand Am] with a shotgun and shoot victim. He then states he racked the shotgun again and put it up to his chest and said “I should go ahead and kill you.” Mr. Louallen states that one of the victim’s friend’s, Steven Bradley . . . said “Man don’t do that you done enough.” He also states that Kory Little and Michael Dunlap were present when the victim was shot.

(Appx. 257). The introduction of a devastatingly inculpatory investigatory hearsay already known to Petitioner and Counsel prior to pleading guilty is inadequate to satisfy Petitioner's evidentiary burden.

For all of these reasons, the PCR court properly denied relief from Petitioner's allegations that Counsel failed to investigate witnesses Little and Louallen.

II. THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY OF BILLY LEE LISENBY WAS BOTH UTTERLY DEVOID OF CREDIBILITY AND WAS IN ANY EVENT INCULPATORY

The PCR court also properly denied relief from Petitioner's claim of newly discovered evidence where it found the credibility of Petitioner's newly discovered witness and cellmate, Billy Lee Lisenby, to be sorely lacking. Indeed, Mr. Lisenby's history with this Court² is such that it would not be the most outrageous holding to find him not credible as a matter of law.

The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act states that a person may institute a post-conviction relief action if "there exists evidence or material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A)(4). A defendant requesting a new trial based on after-discovered evidence after a guilty plea must show:

(1) The newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea; and (2) the newly discovered evidence is of such a weight and quality that, under the facts and circumstances of that particular case, the 'interest of justice' requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated.

Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 470, 765 S.E.2d 123, 130 (2014). As noted in the prior sections, the PCR court is entitled to great deference in determining the credibility of the witnesses before it. Hyman, 397 S.C. at 45, 723 S.E.2d at 380; Goins, 397 S.C. at 573, 726 S.E.2d at 3.

² Lisenby confirmed filing *thirty-five* different suits involving the South Carolina Attorney General and that he was subject to a restrictive filing order from this Court. (Appx. 216, line 24 – Appx. 217, line 15).

Lisenby testified at the evidentiary hearing. Despite never being mentioned by any other witnesses to the crime previously, Lisenby claimed that on the night in question he was sitting on the hood of a car in the parking lot of Pop's Game Room. (Appx. 209, ll. 5-11). Lisenby testified he saw Victim "walking around, you know, waving a gun, talking about he was gonna get this guy." (Appx. 209, ll. 12-17). Lisenby recalled seeing "a blue Grand Am or either a Grand Prix" pull up to Pop's. (Appx. 210, ll. 2-4). A man, who Lisenby later determined was Petitioner, got out of the passenger side of the car, at which time Victim approached Petitioner in an irate manner. (Appx. 210, ll. 4-13). Lisenby claimed Petitioner went to the front of the car, fell backward onto the hood of the car, and that a shot rang out. (Appx. 211, ll. 7-11). Victim fell and "all the Dunlap family just covered the body, ran up to him real quick and I saw a guy pulled the gun off of him." (Appx. 211, ll. 13-24). Lisenby testified he asked Larry Brown, of the Pageland Police Department, about the incident in January 2008 and reported he had been present at the scene, but that Brown never got back to him about it and Lisenby never brought it up to anybody else. (Appx. 212-13). Lisenby was first housed with Petitioner at Lee Correctional, but when they transferred to Ridgeland or Lieber,³ Lisenby talked to Petitioner and learned Petitioner was convicted for the shooting at Pop's. (Appx. 214, ll. 12-21). Two or three months later, Petitioner asked Lisenby to help him by verifying Victim had a gun; Lisenby initially did not wish to get involved but ultimately was contacted by PCR counsel. (Appx. 214-15). On cross-examination, Lisenby confirmed his prison record, prolific litigation history, and restrictions on his ability to file new PCR actions. (Appx. 216-18). Lisenby was uncertain as to who actually got out of the vehicle at Pop's and shot Victim. (Appx. 218, ll. 9-16).

³ Lisenby equivocates or corrects as to the detail.

The PCR court properly rejected this claim for relief. The PCR court ruled the facts “weigh very heavily against placing credibility on the statements of these men[,]” referring to Little and Lisenby. (Appx. 297-98). That credibility finding is entitled to deference. The wisdom of that finding is only reinforced by the facts and circumstances, which are similar to those in Jamison: an applicant for relief “discovered” another inmate who claims to have been present at the scene of a killing, where the applicant admits to having a gun and shooting the victim. The difference between the present matter and Jamison is that Lisenby’s testimony is of even less weight and quality. In addition to the PCR court’s credibility finding, whether Victim was or was not armed is irrelevant to the problem Counsel identified at the plea proceeding—that Petitioner showed up armed with a shotgun, with evidence to show ill intent, such that he could not be “without fault” or acting lawfully for the purposes of either a self-defense or accident strategy.

Petitioner discusses State v. South, 310 S.C. 504, 427 S.E.2d 666 (1993) and State v. Wells, 249 S.C. 249, 153 S.E.2d 904 (1967). Respondent cannot discern their relevance aside from the fact that they are also newly-discovered evidence cases.

“[I]t will be the rare case indeed where the interests of justice will require that a knowing and voluntary guilty plea be vacated through post-conviction relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence[.]” Jamison, 410 S.C. at 470, 765 S.E.2d at 130. Billy Lisenby cooking up a story at Petitioner’s request is not that rare case. The PCR court properly denied relief and certiorari should be denied.

III. THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF WHERE COUNSEL CREDIBLY TESTIFIED HE EXPLAINED TO PETITIONER HE WOULD SERVE AT LEAST 85% OF HIS SENTENCE AND WHERE THE PLEA COURT INSTRUCTED PETITIONER TO EXPECT TO SERVE EVERY DAY OF HIS SENTENCE

The PCR court properly denied relief from Petitioner's claim he was told he would serve only 65% of his sentence because both the record of the plea proceeding and Counsel's testimony refute the claim. "It is well settled that parole eligibility is a collateral consequence of sentencing, and that trial counsel need not advise a client of his parole eligibility or ineligibility in order to render effective assistance." Jackson v. State, 349 S.C. 62, 64, 562 S.E.2d 475, 476-77 (2002) (citations omitted). "When considering an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether information conveyed by the plea judge cured any possible error made by counsel." Burnett v. State, 352 S.C. 589, 592, 576 S.E.2d 144, 145 (2003) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415 (1998)).

During the plea, Petitioner indicated unfamiliarity with the "85 Percent Rule or anything like that[.]" (Appx. 85, ll. 19-24). The plea court then explained to Petitioner he "could actually expect [to] serve the entire amount" of any sentence he may receive. (Appx. 86, ll. 1-8). Petitioner confirmed he understood. (Appx. 86, line 9).

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner claimed Counsel told him he "had to do 65% and [he] would be released from prison." (Appx. 173, ll. 5-8). Petitioner testified he pled guilty based on that advice. (Appx. 173, ll. 9-13). Confronted with the plea court's curative effort, Petitioner testified he thought he would only serve the whole time if he got in trouble while incarcerated. (Appx. 200, ll. 2-12). Counsel, on the other hand, denied ever telling Petitioner he would only have to serve 65%, and firmly asserted he told Petitioner he would have to serve 85%. (Appx. 229-30; Appx. 232-33). Counsel conceded he perhaps should have said something

when Petitioner denied discussing the subject during the plea, but asserted his explanation of mandatory minimums is “so automatic that I would’ve told him 85% because those are traditional run-of-the-mill arguments in PCR’s that I’ve faced for the last 35 years since the statute was in active.” [sic] (Appx. 233, ll. 14-23).

Petitioner asserts the present matter is similar to Jordan v. State, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988). Petitioner’s own summary of Jordan shows that it is not similar at all. There is no prosecutorial bait-and-switch in the present matter. Nor is either Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989) or Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991); here, Counsel credibly testified he correctly advised Petitioner as to his sentencing exposure.

The PCR court relied upon Counsel’s testimony that he told Petitioner he would serve 85% in denying relief. (Appx. 267). As such, there is “any evidence” in the record to support the PCR court’s ruling. Additionally, any misunderstanding Petitioner may have had would have been cured by the plea court’s unconditioned admonition that Petitioner should expect to serve every day of his sentence. Accordingly, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

[Conclusion and signature on following page]

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues identified by the Court.